Louisiana State University
LSU Digital Commons

LSU Master's Theses

Graduate School

2005

Racial variations and social support and its impact on stress and depression

Claire Sam Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.lsu.edu/gradschool_theses

Part of the Sociology Commons

Recommended Citation

Sam, Claire, "Racial variations and social support and its impact on stress and depression" (2005). *LSU Master's Theses*. 1376. https://digitalcommons.lsu.edu/gradschool_theses/1376

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at LSU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in LSU Master's Theses by an authorized graduate school editor of LSU Digital Commons. For more information, please contact gradetd@lsu.edu.

RACIAL VARIATIONS AND SOCIAL SUPPORT AND ITS IMPACT ON STRESS AND DEPRESSION

A Thesis

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts

in

The Department of Sociology

by Claire Sam B.S., Louisiana State University, 2003 December 2005

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

"Every good and perfect gift is from above..." (James 1:17).

I would like to thank the members of my committee, Drs Jeanne Hurlbert, John Beggs, and Susan Dumais for their support and assistance throughout this thesis project. I want to extend a special thanks to Dr. Hurlbert for your continuous guidance and words of encouragement. Above all, I cannot express how much it meant to me to have a mentor that believed in me – a priceless gift.

I also want to thank my family for their support and prayers throughout this thesis. Mom and Dad, thanks for your prayers and always pushing me to do my very best and reach high for my dreams. Leah and Lauren, my beautiful sisters, thank you for cheering me on and helping keep my spirits high. I wish to thanks Lisa Mathews, my aunt, for all your support and love. Also Brian Jr., my gorgeous baby, I want you to know that you motivated me throughout this project.

Finally, I wish to thank my husband, Brian O Norris, Sr. You have been my backbone throughout this thesis process. Thank you for your many sacrifices and all the love and unending support you have given me.

ii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ii
ABSTRACT	iv
INTRODUCTION	1
REVIEW OF LITERATURE	
Definition and Conceptualization of Social Support	
Social Support and Well-being	
Social Support and Social Capital	
Social Support as a Form of Social Capital	
Characteristics of Network	
Race and Social Support	
Disrupted Networks	
RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	
Hypotheses	
Data	
Measures	
ANALYSES AND RESULTS	
Analyses Procedure	
Results	
DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	28
REFERENCES	30
APPENDIX: MEANS AND STANDARD DEVIATIONS	35
VITA	36

ABSTRACT

Evidence suggests that social support can mitigate some of the harmful effects of stress on health. Social support theorists argue that certain social groups have differential access to social support; therefore, certain social groups are at a higher risk of experiencing psychiatric symptoms. Although social networks are beyond the scope of these analyses, it is an important component to consider when examining the uneven distributions of social support between social groups. If racial differences exist in the networks in which individuals are embedded, then part of the differential access to social support could be explained by examining the various compositions of networks. This thesis examines racial differences in the social support process. Using data collected on recovery support during Hurricane Georges, I examine: (1) whether and how social support systems for blacks and whites differ in nonroutine situations and (2) whether the relationship among stress, support, and depression differ between blacks and whites. My results indicate that blacks are less likely than whites to receive instrumental support in the preparation phase of the storm and blacks who receive less instrumental support after the storm are more likely to suffer from depression. This suggests that future research should explore systematic differences in blacks' and whites' network characteristics, including the types of resources, and the variations in the network structure.

iv

INTRODUCTION

Most individuals can recall an event or situation that caused them to experience stress. According to McFarlane, Norman, Streiner, and Roy (1983: 160), any "life-changing event, despite its quality, is inclined to be stressful because it disturbs life's patterns and requires that the [individual] change". More intense levels of stress can lead to such psychological outcomes as depression. Examples of such events include the loss of a job, a death in the family, or simply trying to become acclimated to a new job. Nevertheless, regardless of the event, individuals experiencing the same situation may perceive different levels of stress. Researchers have attempted to explain that variation (Thoits 1982, 1984; Bailey, Wolfe, and Wolfe 1996; Haines, Hurlbert, and Beggs 2005; LaRocco, House, and French 1980; Fenlason and Beehr 1994; Nelson and Quick 1991). The question that remains is why some individuals stand at a higher risk of experiencing depression from a stressful event than others. One way that social scientists have addressed this question is by examining the effects of social support on the relationship between stress and depression.

An abundance of evidence suggests that social support can mitigate some of the deleterious effects of stress on health (House 1987; LaRocco et al. 1980; Thoits 1984). It is reasonable to conclude that individuals with a strong support system "should be better able to cope with major life changes; those with little or no social support may be more vulnerable to life changes, particularly undesirable ones" (Thoits 1982: 145).

When the level of exposure to life's stressors is held constant, research indicates that individuals with little or no support system will experience higher levels of depression than those individuals with a strong support system. For example, Lin, Ensel, Simeone, and Kuo (1979) found those individuals with a strong social support system experience low-level psychiatric symptoms. With few exceptions (see Bailey et. al. 1996), the majority of research focused primarily on the white community, with little attention given to variation by race in the stress-support process. That variation by race in the stress support-process constitutes the focus of my thesis. The stressful context that I examine is a hurricane. Specifically, I ask (a) whether and how social support systems for blacks and whites differ and (b) whether the relationships among stress, support, and depression differ between blacks and whites.

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Definition and Conceptualization of Social Support

Social support is defined as "support that is accessible through one's social ties" (Lin, Simeone, Ensel, and Kuo 1979: 109). Generally, measures of this multidimensional concept tap (1) perceived versus actual support, (2) the source of support, and (3) the type of support.

There has been much controversy among social support theorists over whether researchers should measure as perceived or received support. The main difference "focuses on the subjective versus the objective continuum of support" (Lin, Ensel, Simeone, and Kuo 1999: 346). Perceived support is one's perception of the accessibility of support, the evaluation of sufficiency of support, and the quality of the support in their time of need. In contrast, received support refers to specific support transactions (Lin et al. 1999).

Social support is also characterized by the source from which it is received. Typically, researchers examine formal support and informal support. Formal support comes from organizations, whether public or private. Providers of informal support include family, friends, and other individuals.

In addition to the varying sources of support, House (1981) derived four categories, which he argued are main types of social support. These categories are (1) emotional support, which includes empathy, trust, love, esteem, and concern for the recipient; (2) instrumental support, which involves tangible aid such as money, labor, or time for the recipient; (3) informational support, in which the recipient is provided with advice, suggestions, and guidance; and (4) appraisal support, which provides affirmation, feedback, social comparison, and

self-evaluation to the recipient (Cooke, Rossman, McCubbin, and Patterson 1988; Ducharme and Martin, 2000; Nelson and Quick 1991).

Although these categories exist, researchers have focused primarily on instrumental and emotional support (Bailey et al. 1996; Robicheaux 2003; Fenlason and Beehr 1994), which subsumes the other forms of support. Some researchers focused solely on emotional support, arguing that, when examining effects on depression, this is the most critical dimension (LaRocco et al. 1980). There is considerable debate on which type and source is an appropriate measure within a specific, situational context. "There are theoretical arguments about the importance of there being a match between the type of stress experience and the type and source of support" (McIntosh 1991: 202). Although many potential forms of social support exist, there is reason to believe that, the in the context on which I focus during stressful life events — hurricanes — instrumental support and emotional support constitute the most essential support dimensions. Therefore, I examine those two forms of support.

Social Support and Well-being

It is well documented that social support mitigates the effects of life's stressors on health. In particular, researchers have investigated the impact of social support and its ameliorating effects on individuals' psychological wellbeing. Two hypotheses were developed to explain the relationship between social support and stress: the main effects model and the buffer model. "The main effects model states that social support has a direct effect promoting positive indicators of well being and inhibiting negative indicators" (Bailey et al. 1996: 288). In other words, individuals who benefit from social support will benefit

regardless of the amount of stress they experience. In contrast, the buffer model suggests that individuals who are under extreme stress will experience low levels of distress if they receive high levels of support; however, those individuals with low levels of social support experience greater distress when faced with the same level of stress (Thoits 1982; Fenlason and Beehr 1994; Wethington and Kessler 1986; Nelson and Quick 1991; Fried and Tiegs 1993).

Social Support and Social Capital

Currently, there is a gap in the literature concerning how the stresssupport process varies by race. However, there is an abundance of research examining how social capital varies between racial groups (Lin 2000; Paxton 1999). Social capital can be defined as the "investment and use of [social] resources in social relations with expected returns. . ." (Lin 19: 2000). These "resources" include forms of social support, such as instrumental and expressive support (Hurlbert, Haines, and Beggs 2000). Thus, understanding the dynamics of social capital should allow researchers to investigate the variations in resources (social support); including the types and sources individuals receive.

Resources are not always obtainable or possessed by the individual actor. Lin (2000: 786) suggest "... not all individuals or social groups uniformly acquire social capital". However, individual actors can access resources through their social networks. Portes (1998: 6) suggests that, although minor differences in the conceptualization of social capital exist, "the consensus is growing in the literature that social capital stands for the ability of actors to secure benefits by virtue of membership in social networks or other social structures". In other

words, these resources are "embedded in the [various] ties of one's [social] networks" (Lin 2000: 43).

Social Support as a Form of Social Capital

Social support is one of the many benefits one can reap from his/her social network. In other words, social support is a form of social capital that is accessible through an individual's social ties (Lin, Simeone, Ensel, and Kuo 1979). Researchers suggest that gender and race differences in the networks in which individuals are embedded cause uneven distributions of resources (Lin, 2000; Portes and Landoltz, 1996). Further, if gender and race differences exist in networks in which individuals are grounded, then part of the differential access to social support could be explained by examining the various characteristics of individuals' networks.

Characteristics of Network

Tie Strength. Much of the emphasis in the studies of networks and social capital deals with tie strength. Granovetter (1983: 1361) defined the strength of a tie as "... the combination of the amount of time, the emotional intensity, the intimacy, and the reciprocal services which characterize the tie". There is substantial research on how tie strength affects, such resources as job information and influences (Granovetter 1983; Moore 1990; Hurlbert et al. 2000). Lin, Ensel, Vaughn (1981: 394) summarizes Granovetter's work as suggesting that "weak ties [allow] a person to reach beyond his or her small well-defined circle in order to make connections with parts of the social structure not directly accessible to him or her". Researchers argue that the advantage of a weak tie is that new, or nonredundant, information can flow through it. The

weak tie is often referred to as the "bridge" that gives individuals access to scarce and valued resources that are embedded in different networks (Ibarra 1992). Network researchers have suggested that weak ties are more useful in accessing instrumental resources, particularly resources that promote job-finding and career advancement (Granovetter 1983; Moore 1990; Ibarra 1992,). Lin (1981) expanded on this approach, arguing that individuals who wish to gain resources that are unobtainable within their social circles will try to reach beyond their immediate social circles to contact individuals with higher status in the social structure (e.g., through weak ties) for their desired resource. Lin illustrates the social structure as having a pyramidal shape "in terms of accessibility and control of such honors and rewards" (Lin, Ensel, and Vaughn 1979: 395). Individuals at the top of the pyramid have greater access to social resources, whereas individuals who are located near the bottom of the pyramid must contact someone higher in the hierarchical structure (Lin, Ensel, and Vaughn 1979).

However, strong ties "tend to link people of similar backgrounds [and] people who generally move in the same social circles" (James 2000: 497). Strong ties generally require an investment of time and effort, are emotionally intense, and are reciprocal by nature (Granovetter 1983). Social support researchers have concluded that access to social support is typically associated with strong and/or homophilous ties, rather than weak and/or heterophilous ties (Hurlbert et al. 2000).

Studies have shown that women are likely to be involved more heavily than men in kin networks with strong and dense kin ties (Haines et al. 2005; Moore 1990; Lin 2000), providing them with more access to social support

(Haines et al. 2005; Paxton 1998). Based on other research, Lin (2000: 788) suggests that women's domestic and community affiliation is primarily explained by "society's definition of child rearing as a female activity [which] placed men and women in different structural positions with respect to flow of information and other resources in social networks". In other words, because women are generally involved in domestic and community activities that foster the development of strong and homophilous ties, their family and close community members are the main sources of their social resources, restricting the flow of new information in their social circle, such as career opportunities. In contrast, men are more likely to have more extensive, sparse, and weak ties. Compared to women's networks, men's networks contain fewer kin and more non-kin (Moore 1990), which is the reason that men generally enjoy greater access to such instrumental resources as job information.

<u>Homophily</u>. The strength of weak ties "has produced a hypothesis consistent with the well known homophily (or like me) principle" (Lin, Ensel, Vaughn 1981). Variation in network homophily, like variation in tie strength, can help to explain the variations in network access to resources including social support. Homophily can be defined as individual preference to interact or associate with similar others (Ibarra 1992; McPherson and Smith-Lovin 1987). As already indicated, resources are accessible through the social relationships or networks of the individual (Lin 2002). Network researchers have found evidence that those who are in disadvantaged groups or have limited access to resources "prefer interaction with higher status others in order to gain access to valued resources" (Ibarra 1992: 424). In contrast, if a group is rich in a valued resource,

then it is reasonable to conclude that that particular resource could be easily accessed; individuals who are in the groups that are rich in a resource are likely to prefer homophilous interaction. In terms of job information and influence, Lin (2000) suggests that groups that consist mostly of women are disadvantaged in social capital, or social resources. Women tend to participate in social groups that are "more likely to expose them to information about the domestic realm." Women are also likely to look to other women for expressive support. However, access to instrumental resources, such as employment, is likely to be contingent on heterophilous interaction and weak ties (Ibarra 1992).

In contrast, men are more likely to belong to male-dominant circles and less involved in their social relations. Lin (2000) argued that women had not integrated well into men's social circles. Therefore, it is likely that men will predominately receive their social resources from other men (Ibarra 1992). It is evident that men have access to various types and sources of social resources because of their affiliation with the advantaged groups (Lin 2000; Portes 1998).

Parallel variation in social resources is likely to exist between minority groups. Since minority groups tend have less access to social resources, the disadvantaged position of minority group members is likely to restrict the amount of instrumental support received (Portes, 1998, Lin 2000). Minorities are also likely to receive lower levels of such instrumental resources as jobfinding. 1995: 678).

Race and Social Support

Although social networks are beyond the scope of this study, it is an important component to consider when attempting to understand the racial

variations in social support. House (1981) suggests that some of the variation that exists in the receipt of social support could be explained by the social networks to which individuals belong (Haines and Hurlbert 1982). Network theorists believe that the networks in which individuals belong allocate resources differently. In other words, certain network structures are more likely to provide individuals with particular resources (i.e., social support). Those individuals who are involved in networks that contain high proportions of strong and/or homophilous ties tend to have better access to social support (Haines, Hurlbert, Beggs, 1996).

Kin networks also play an important role in the receipt of social support. Researchers have concluded that kin represent a primary source of social support, for both blacks and whites. Gaudin and Davis (1985: 1015) suggest that "extended family networks are a critical source of tangible and psychological support for black families..." Individuals whose networks contain more kin are therefore, more likely to receive social support (Haines 2005; Moore 1991).

Although little research exists on the receipt of social support in the black community, there is evidence to suggest that blacks tend to rely heavily on kin and close friends (or pseudo-kin) for support in routine situations (Chatters, Taylor, and Neighbors 1989; Gaudin and Davis 1985; Hofferth 1984). Research suggests that there are two plausible explanations for the close kinship ties among the black community. The first is that is these networks have historically provided support that facilitated day-to-day survival- thus; blacks have "invested in" these kinds of networks (Gaudin and Davis 1985). The second explanation is that they owe to a cultural emphasis on kinship ties (Hofferth, 1984: 792).

Disrupted Networks

Disasters, such as hurricanes, affect large segments of communities (Hurlbert et al. 2000). Individuals who are embedded in networks that contain high proportions of strong and/or ties are likely to suffer greater disruption and less access to support. In such a situation, the individual "is stripped of [their] social resources and is thrown back on [their] own individual resources" (Form and Loomis 1956: 180). Given that blacks' social and economic resources are likely to be more limited than whites' in routine situations, that disruption, and the concomitant reduction in access to support, is likely to be greater among blacks than among whites.

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

Hypotheses

The focus of this thesis my twofold: (1) to evaluate the degree to which social support systems differ between blacks and whites and (2) to examine the impact on the psychological well-being for these groups.

Beginning with the receipt of social support, studies suggest that if resources are depleted or scare within a network, then those who are embedded in that network will have a difficult time trying to access that resource. Given the evidence that blacks' networks are likely to offer less economic and social resources than whites' networks in routine situations (Chatters, Taylor and Neighbors, 1989; Gaudin and Davis, 1985; Hofferth, 1984), I derive, the following hypotheses:

H₁: Blacks are less likely than whites to receive instrumental support in the preparation phase of the storm.

 H_2 : Blacks are less likely than whites to receive emotional support in the preparation phase of the storm.

 H_3 : Blacks are less likely than whites to receive instrumental support in the recovery phase of the storm.

H₄**:** Blacks are less likely than whites to receive emotional support in the recovery phase of the storm.

My final predictions draw on one of the most consistent findings of social support research: Social support can alleviate the harmful effects of stress on health. Those who have a strong support system should be better able to adjust to nonroutine situations. Conversely, those who have a weak support system will be unable to adjust or cope with nonroutine situations, and therefore: **H**₅: Instrumental support before and after the storm will have a positive, direct effect on depression (reduce depression), for both blacks and whites.

H₆: Emotional support before and after the storm will have a positive, direct effect on depression (reduce depression), for both blacks and whites.

H₇: Because blacks receive lower levels of support than whites, race will exert an indirect effect on depression, through social support.

Data

Hurricane Georges struck the Gulf coast of Mississippi on the morning of September 28th, 1998. With funding from the National Science Foundation, two Louisiana State University researchers and a colleague from the University of Calgary collected data from a random sample of residents of Jackson County, Mississippi--the Gulf Coast area in which the storm made landfall. That parish sustained extensive damage to houses, businesses, and property from the 90knot sustained winds of the storm. Because there was very little disruption of telephone service, these researchers were able to use telephone interviews to collect data from the respondents. Those interviews provide detailed information on the experiences in the preparation and short-term recovery phases of the storm.

Measures

<u>Received Support</u>. Measures of instrumental and expressive support serve as dependent variables in the first stage of my analysis and endogenous variables in the second stage of my analysis. Four items in the survey measured instrumental and emotional social support before and after Hurricane Georges. The first item, which measured instrumental support in the preparation phase of

the storm, asked respondents, "Did anyone help you with preparations (such as boarding up the windows, filling or placing sandbags, getting tools, etc.) or make them for you?" Respondents who reported that someone helped them with preparations before the storm were coded as (1); those who reported that no one helped them before the storm were coded as (0).

The second item in the survey measured emotional support in the preparation phase of the storm. Respondents were asked, "When you think about the period before the storm hit, you may remember feeling worried about the hurricane. If you felt this way, did you ever talk to anyone about your concern?" Respondents who reported they did talk to someone about their worries before the storm were coded as (1); those who reported they did not experience those feelings, or had those feelings but did not talk to anyone, were coded as (0).

The third measure tapped instrumental support in the recovery phase of the storm. Respondents were asked, "Did anyone help you [take care of babies or children, get or prepare food, take care of animals, etc.] do these things or do them for you?" Respondents who reported that someone helped them after the storm were coded as (1); those who reported that no one helped them after the storm were coded as (0).

The fourth item in the survey measured emotional support in the recovery phase of the storm. Respondents were asked, "Did you talk to anyone about things that happened to you during the storm, or about your worries and concerns?" Respondents who reported they did talk to someone about things that happened to them during the storm were coded as (1); those who reported

they did not talk to someone about the things that happened to them during the storm were coded as (0).

<u>Depression</u>. The outcome measure is a 7-item scale. This scale correlates highly (approximately .93) with the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression scale (CES-D) (Ross and Murkowsky's 1989). Respondents were asked, "How many days during the past week (0 to 7) have you: (1) felt you could not get going, (2) felt sad, (3) had trouble getting to sleep or staying asleep, (4) felt that everything was an effort, (5) felt lonely, (6) felt you could not shake the blues, (7) had trouble keeping your mind on what you were doing." The measure was constructed by summing the responses to these items and dividing seven.

<u>Race</u>. I will examine the possibility that he social support and depression process varies across social groups, using a measure of race that was coded as (1) for whites and (0) for blacks.¹

Individual Characteristics. Gender, a dummy variable, is coded male (1) and female (0) (thus, female constitutes the reference category). Education is coded in years.² Marital status was coded as married (1) and not married (0). I measured age in years³ and family income in thousands of dollars.⁴ Respondents who reported that someone in their household regularly received assistance or food stamps were coded as (1); those who reported no one in their household that regularly received assistance or food stamps were coded as (0). To measure

¹ For the purpose of this study, only blacks and whites were included in my analysis.

² Respondents were asked to report the highest grade of school or college completed. Respondents who reported having 20 or more years of education were coded as 20 years.

³ Age was measured by subtracting the year the respondent was born from 2005.

⁴ To tap income, nine categories were created. Respondents were asked to report which category best described their household income. The midpoints were taken for each category and respondents who reported having an income above \$100,000 were recoded to \$125,000. A prediction equation was created for the 162 respondents who did not report their income. Details are available upon request.

whether respondents received help from formal organizations, such as Red Cross, Federal Emergency Management Association (FEMA), and churches, respondents were asked, "Did you receive assistance from organizations?" Respondents who reported they receive assistance were coded as (1), those who reported they did not receive assistance were coded as (0). To measure residential damage, respondents were asked, "How would you describe the physical damage to your home?" Reponses ranged from (1) virtually no damage to (4) severe damage. To measure respondents' health, a four-point scale from excellent (coded 1) to poor (coded 0) was constructed. Individuals who reported experiencing a hurricane before Hurricane Georges were coded as (1) and those who reported never experiencing a hurricane before Hurricane Georges were coded as (0). To measure the respondents' stress levels, a four-point scale was constructed to tap stressful life events. Respondents were asked, "In the last year have you (1) had a close friend or relative die, (2) had problems at work, (3) had problems with your family, (4) had financial problems. Factor analyses indicated that item 1 (had a close friend relative die) was not orthogonal to the other items. For that reason, the scale consists of the sum of the other three items.

ANALYSES AND RESULTS

Analyses Procedure

Lin, Ye, and Ensel (1999: 348) argued that certain social groups "tend to have higher levels of psychological well-being" than other groups. Evidence suggests that differences in psychological well-being are explained in part by differential access to social support. To investigate whether and how levels of support and depression, and the support depression relationship may differ between blacks and whites, I will first test the effects of race and control variables on the support-process in the preparation and recovery phase of the storm, using logistic regression. Next, I will evaluate whether the effects differ by race. Finally, using ordinary least squares, I will evaluate the effects of race, support, and individual characteristics on respondents' psychological well-being (depression). I will also examine whether the effects of support and individual characteristics on depression differ by race.

Results

Effects of Race and Control Variables on Received Support. Table 1 presents the effects of race and individual characteristics on instrumental and emotional support, in the preparation and recovery phases of the storm. Starting with instrumental support in the preparation phase of the storm, I did not find support for hypothesis H₁ (stating that blacks are less likely than whites to receive instrumental help before the storm); the effect of race is not significant.

However, Model 1 of Table 1 does show that gender, age, and previous hurricane experience exert significant effects on receive support. Being female increases the odds of receiving instrumental support in the preparation phase of

the storm by 81%. Each additional year of an individual's life decreases the odds of receiving instrumental support by 2%. In addition, experiencing a severe hurricane increases the odds of receiving instrumental support before the storm by 94%.

Turning to Model 2 of Table 1, the findings do not support my second hypothesis H_2 (stating that blacks are less likely than whites to receive emotional support in the preparation phase of the storm). Once again, the effect of race is not significant. However, in Model 2 of Table 1, two measures did have a significant effect on the receipt of emotional support before the storm. Being female increased the odds of receiving emotional support before the storm by 1% and each additional year of education increased the odds of receiving emotional support before the storm by 8%.

The next question I examine is whether blacks are less likely than whites to receive instrumental support in the recovery phase of the storm. The findings support hypothesis H₃ (stating that blacks are less likely than whites to receive instrumental support in the recovery phase of the storm). Being black decreased the odds of receiving instrumental support by 61%.

Model 4 of Table 1 examines the effects of race and individual characteristics on emotional support in the recovery phase of the storm. The findings do not support hypothesis H_4 (stating that blacks are less likely than whites to report emotional support); the effects of race is significant. However, being female increases the odds of receiving emotional support by 41%.

<u>Determinants of Received Support, by Race</u>. Tables 2 and 3 present the equation from Table 1, estimated separately by race. This allows me to ask

whether the effects of individual characteristics on received support differ between blacks and whites. Starting with black respondents, previous experience with a hurricane had significant effects on the receipt of instrumental support in the preparation phase of the storm. The odds of receiving instrumental support before the storm increased by 2% for blacks who had previously experienced a hurricane, holding all other variables constant.

Model 3 of Table 2 investigates what individual characteristics affect the receipt of instrumental support in the recovery phase of the storm, among blacks. Holding all other variables constant, two of the nine measures were significant. The odds of receiving instrumental support after the storm increased by 4% for blacks who report receiving financial assistance. Each additional year of education decreased the odds of blacks receiving instrumental support after the storm by 20%.

Model 4 of Table 2 evaluates what individual characteristics affect the receipt of emotional support in the recovery phase of the storm, for blacks. The odds of receiving emotional support after the storm deceased by 69% for blacks who are not married. Those who report higher levels of income are more likely to report higher levels of emotional support.

Turning to white respondents, Model 1 of Table 3 evaluates the effects of individual characteristics on the receipt of instrumental support in the preparation phase of the storm. Gender, age, and previous experience with a hurricane had statistical significance on instrumental support before the storm. Being a white female increases the odds of receiving instrumental support before the storm by 82%. Each additional year of a white individual's life decreased the

odds of receiving instrumental support in the preparation phase of the storm by 1%. The odds of receiving instrumental support before the storm increased by 70% for whites who had previous experience with a hurricane.

Model 2 of Table 3 investigates the effects of individual characteristics on the receipt of emotional support in the preparation phase of the storm for whites. Gender had significant effects on emotional support before the storm. Being a white female increased the odds of receiving emotional support before the storm by 1.13%.

Model 4 of Table 3 evaluates what individual characteristics affect white respondents' receipt of emotional support in the recovery phase of the storm. Gender and stressful life events had significant effects on the receipt of emotional support after the storm. Being a white female increased the odds receiving emotional support in the recovery phase of the storm by 50%. The odds of receiving emotional support decreased by 21% for whites who report life stress.

Effect of Race, Support, and Individual Characteristics on Depression. Now, I turn to the second dependent variable, depression (Table 4). Here I ask whether race, support, (instrumental and emotional) and individual characteristics affect depression. I did not find evidence to support hypotheses H₅ and H₆ (stating that instrumental and emotional support before and after the storm will exert a negative effect on depression). I also did not find evidence to support hypothesis H₇ (stating that blacks report less social support; therefore, they are more likely than whites to report low levels of psychological well-being).

However, several individual characteristics exerted significant effects on depression (table 4). Lower levels of education were associated with higher levels

Table 1. Logistic Regression Analysis of Effects of Race and Other Individual Characteristics on **Receiving Support**

	<u>Social Support</u>				
	Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 Model 4				
	Instrumental Support Before the Storm	Emotional Support Before the Storm	Instrumental Support After the Storm	Emotional Support After the Storm	
Individual Characteristics					
Race (Blacks)	.131 (.236)	.273 (.239)	.477† (.235)	.088 (.230)	
Gender (Female)	596*** (.169)	761*** (.170)	298 (.167)	347*(.167)	
Education	014 (.037)	.080* (.037)	023 (.036)	.048 (.037)	
Family Assistance (yes)	.177 (.437)	390 (.450)	.793 (.440)	.014 (.435)	
Family Income	.000 (.000)	.000 (.000)	.000 (.000)	.000 (.000)	
Age	015* (.006)	.000 (.006)	004 (.006)	001 (.006)	
Marital Status (Married)	.158 (.188)	.284 (.188)	.012 (.186)	.306 (.185)	
Health	.045 (.116)	025 (.116)	.153 (.116)	.105 (.115)	
Experienced Hurricane (yes)	.667*** (227)	099 (.221)			
Life Stress (yes)	.046 (.089)	.037 (.090)	151 (.090)	173 (.090)	
Residential Damage (yes)			.131 (.088)	.057 (.088)	
Intercept	188 (.687)	1.296 (.694)	652 (.705)	-1.027 (.706)	
R ²	.061	.065	.036	.033	
N	677	674	678	675	

Unstandardized coefficients. Standard errors in parenthesis. *p<.05 ,**p<.01 ,***p<.001 (two-tailed); [†]p<.05, ^{††}p<.01, ^{†††}p<.001 (one-tailed)

Table 2. Logistic Regression Analysis of Effects of Individual Characteristics on Received Support among Blacks

	Blacks				
	Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 Model				
	Instrumental Support Before the Storm	Emotional Support Before the Storm	Instrumental Support After the Storm	Emotional Support After the Storm	
Individual Characteristics					
Gender (Female)	651 (.520)	881 (.520)	173 (.497)	.113 (.500)	
Education	.042 (.098)	.144 (.107)	227* (.112)	158 (.108)	
Family Assistance (yes)	.270 (.790)	.092 (.776)	1.658* (.824)	-1.089 (.827)	
Family Income	.000 (.000)	.000 (.000)	.000 (.000)	.000* (.000)	
Age	014 (.020)	.010 (.019)	020 (.019)	.023 (.020)	
(Marital Status) Married	.251 (.496)	589 (.496)	445 (.513)	1.185* (.524)	
Health	.241 (.333)	.255 (.320)	.132 (.340)	.393 (.327)	
Experience Hurricane (yes)	1.164* (.494)	.024 (.461)			
Life Stress (yes)	.359 (.220)	169 (.216)	140 (.226)	.022 (.216)	
Residential Damage (yes)			204 (.230)	.232 (.229)	
Intercept	-2.68 (2.126)	-3.008 (2.158)	3.317 (2.306)	-4.356 (2.333)	
R ²	.168	.108	.149	.163	
Ν	105	104	107	105	

 $\label{eq:constant} \begin{array}{l} \text{Unstandardized coefficients. Standard errors in parenthesis.} \\ *p<.05, \ **p<.01, \ ***p<.001 \ (two-tailed); \ ^{\dagger}p<.05, \ ^{\dagger\dagger}p<.01 \ ^{\dagger\dagger\dagger}, p<.001 \ (one-tailed) \end{array}$

Table 3. Logistic Regression Analysis Effects of Individual Characteristics on Received Support				
among Whites				

	Whites			
	Model 1 Instrumental Support Before the Storm	Model 2 Emotional Support Before the Storm	Model 3 Instrumental Support After the Storm	Model 4 Emotional Support After the Storm
Individual Characteristics				
Gender (Female)	604**(.181)	756*** (.182)	317 (.180)	409* (.180)
Education	023 (.040)	.071 (.040)	.008 (.040)	.036 (.040)
Family assistance (yes)	.215 (.539)	763 (.577)	.505 (.536)	.380 (.536)
Family Income	.000 (.000)	.000 (.000)	.000 (.000)	.000 (.000)
Age	015* (.006)	.000 (.006)	002 (.006)	004 (.006)
Marital Status (Married)	.095 (.205)	.246 (.206)	.113 (.204)	.156 (.204)
Health	.034 (.126)	061 (.126)	.132 (.125)	.085 (.126)
Experience Hurricane (yes)	.533 * (.262)	174 (.257)		
Life Stress (yes)	018 (.100)	.091 (.101)	143 (.101)	243* (.102)
Residential Damage (yes)			.186 (.097)	.023 (.097)
Intercept	.383 (.748)	764 (.752)	732 (.753)	485 (.754)
R ²	.052	.063	.027	.036
Ν	572	570	571	570

Unstandardized coefficients. Standard errors in parenthesis. *p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001 (two-tailed); [†]p<.05, ^{††}p<.01, ^{†††}p<.001 (one-tailed)

of depression. Individuals who report greater residential damage were more likely to report depression. Lower levels of stress were associated with higher levels of depression. Individuals who previously experienced a hurricane reported greater depression. Higher levels of stressful life events were associated with higher levels of depression. Surprisingly, those who are not married report lower levels of depression than those who are married. Individuals who reported receiving help from organizations were less likely to report depression.

Effects of Social Support and Individual Characteristics on Depression, by Race. Table 5 evaluates whether the effects of social support and individual characteristics on depression differ by race. Starting with blacks, Model 1 examines how social support and individual characteristics affect the psychological well-being of blacks. Consistent with the literature, blacks who reported receiving instrumental help in the recovery phase of the storm were less likely to be depressed. Education, residential damage, and pervious hurricane experience exerted significant effects on psychological well-being of blacks. Blacks who reported less education were more likely to report greater depression. Blacks who report experience with a hurricane before Hurricane Georges and residential damage were also more likely to report greater depression.

Table 5 of Model 2 examines what individual characteristics affect psychological well-being of whites. Several individual characteristics exert significant effects on depression. Whites who reported formal assistance were likely to report lower levels of depression. Whites who reported residential damage were more likely to report lower levels of depression. Lower levels of income and health were associated with high levels of depression among whites.

Also, whites who experiencing stressful life events were more likely to higher levels of report depression.

Independent Variables	Dependent Variable: Depression
Support Variables	
Instrumental Help (before the Storm)	.257 (.109)
Instrumental Help (after the Storm)	062 (.113)
Emotional Help (before the Storm)	.009 (.114)
Emotional Help (after the Storm)	.283 (.114)
Formal Support	375* (.134)
Individual Characteristics	
Race (Blacks)	140 (.152)
Gender (Female)	030 (.108)
Education	082*** (.023)
Family Income	000 (.000)
Age	002 (.004)
Marital Status (Married)	224 (.119)
Family Assistance (yes)	.310 (.294)
Residential Damage (yes)	.272 ***(.058)
Health (yes)	510***(.074)
Experience Hurricane (yes)	.347* (.141)
Life Stress (yes)	.397*** (.059)
Intercept	3.118 (.458)
R ²	.305
Ν	646

Table 4. Ordinary Least Squares of Depression on Support Variablesand Individual Characteristics

Unstandardized coefficients. Standard errors in parenthesis. *p<.05, ***p<.001 (two-tailed)

	Model 1	Model 2
Independent Variables	Blacks Dependent Variable: Depression	Whites Dependent Variable Depression:
Support Variables		
Instrumental Help (before the Storm)	.529 (.306)	.209 (.114)
Instrumental Help (after the Storm)	-1.135† (.362)	.018 (.117)
Emotional Help (before the Storm)	030 (.353)	033 (.117)
Emotional Help (after the Storm)	.367 (.359)	.260 (.118)
Formal Support	.110 (.359)	308* (.143)
ndividual Characteristics		
Gender (Female)	001 (.332)	126 (.112)
Education	243** (.070)	067 (.024)
Family Income	.000(.000)	.000*** (.000)
Age	017 (.013)	.001 (.004)
Marital Status (Married)	416 (.335)	200 (.125)
Family Assistance (yes)	.383 (.585)	.305 (.344)
Residential Damage (yes)	.504* (.154)	.201* (.062)
Health	221 (.215)	589*** (.077)
Experience Hurricane (yes)	1.598*** (.349)	.110 (.157)
Life Stress (yes)	053 (.148)	.492*** (.063)
Intercept	3.844	3.110
\mathbb{R}^2	.422	.332
Ν	95	542

Table 5. Ordinary Least Squares of Depression on Support Variablesand Individual Characteristics

Unstandardized coefficients. Standard errors in parenthesis. *p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001 (two-tailed); p<.05†

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Sociologists have attempted to explain the variations of psychological wellbeing by examining the stress-support process. There is reason to believe that certain social groups will have differential access to support, therefore causing varying levels of psychological well-being. However, researchers have not examined racial differences in the stress-support process. This thesis attempts to investigate those issues by first focusing on whether and how the support processes differ by race, and then asking whether the relationship among stress, support, and depression differ between blacks and whites, in a nonroutine situation — Hurricane Georges.

Drawing on social capital and social network theory, I argued that certain resources are not always obtainable or possessed by the individual actor. Often, individuals must rely on their social circles to access a particular resource. However, Lin (2000) argues resources are unevenly distributed across social circles and, to obtain a particular resource one must look beyond their social circle. Evidence suggest that social and economic resources are limited within blacks' networks (Hofferth, 1984; Gaudin and Davis, 1985); therefore, during a nonroutine situation in which all networks are strained, blacks may have less access to network resources (social support) than whites do. My analysis supports that prediction: Blacks are more likely to receive lower levels of instrumental support in the recovery phase of the storm than whites.

Conclusion

These analyses are consistent with the argument that networks, and social resources embedded within these networks, are important components to

consider when investigating social support. Examining the uneven distribution of resources between social groups and the types of networks in which individuals are embedded allows researchers to begin to understand how levels of resources differ between blacks and whites, and what effects those differences exert. Two findings deserve further discussion. First, emotional and instrumental support in the preparation phase of the storm did not exert significant effects, for blacks or whites. However, blacks who report lower levels of instrumental support were more likely to report depression. Future research should examine whether support (instrumental or emotional) before a nonroutine situation affects an individual's psychological well-being, during and after the storm. Second, because there are racial differences in the social resources that blacks and whites can access, it is important to examine what support transactions are significant in reducing psychological symptoms for blacks. Because nonroutine situations such as hurricanes- have such devastating effects at the individual and community level, pursuing these issues allows researchers to understand the survival techniques that are activated within the networks in which blacks and whites are embedded.

REFERENCES

- Astone, Nan M., Constance A. Nathason, Robert Schoen, and Young J. Kim. 1999. "Family Demography, Social Theory, and Investment in Social Capital." *Population and Development Review* 25: 1-31.
- Bailey, Darlyne, Donald Wolfe, and Christopher R. Wolfe. 1996. "The Contextual Impact of Social Support across Race and Gender: Implications for African American Women in the Workplace." *Journal of Black Studies* 26: 287-307.
- Beggs, John J., Valerie A. Haines, and Jeanne S. Hurlbert. 1996. "Situational Contingencies Surrounding the Receipt of Informal Support." Social Forces 75: 201-222.
- Burt, Ronald. 1997. "The Contingent Value of Social Capital." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 42: 339-365.
- Chatters, Linda M., Robert Joseph Taylor, and Harold W. Neighbors. 1989. "Size of Informal Helper Network Mobilized during a Serious Personal Problem among Black Americans." *Journal of Marriage and the Family* 51: 667-676.
- Cobb, Syndey. "Social Support as a moderator of life stress." *Psychosomatic Medicine 38*: 300-314.
- Coleman, James S. 1998. "Social Capital in the Creation of Human Capital." *American Journal of Sociology* 94: 95-120.
- Cooke, Betty D., Marilyn Martin Rossmann, Hamilton I. McCubbin, and Joan M. Patterson. 1988. "Examining the Definitions and Assessment of Social Support: A Resource for Individuals and Families." *Family Relations* 37: 211-216.
- Ducharme, Lori J. and Martin K. Jack .2000. "Unrewarding Work, Coworker Support, and Job Satisfaction: A Test of the Buffering Hypothesis." *Work and Occupations 27:* 223-243.
- Feld, Scott. 1982. "Social Structural Determinants of Similarity among Associates." American Sociological Review 47: 797-801.
- Fenlason Kristofer J., and Terry A. Beehr. 1994. "Social Support and Occupational Stress: Effects of Talking to Others." *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 15: 157-175.
- Fried, Yitzhak and Robert B. Tiegs. 1993. "The Main Effect Model Verses Buffering Model of Shop and Steward Social Support: A Study of Rank-and-File Autoworkers in the USA." *Journal of Organizational Behavior.* 14: 481-493.

- Gaudin, James M., and Katheryn B. Davis. 1985. "Social Networks of Blacks and Whites Rural Families: A Research Report." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 47: 1015-1021.
- Granovetter, Mark. 1983. "The Strength of Weak Ties: A Network Theory Revisited." *Sociological Theory* 1: 201-233.
- Haines, Valerie A., and Jeanne S. Hurlbert. 1992. "Network Range and Health." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 33: 254-266.
- Haines, Valerie A., Jeanne S. Hurlbert, and John J. Beggs. 2005. Personal Correspondence.
- Haines, Valerie A., Jeanne S. Hurlbert, and John J. Beggs. 1996. "Exploring the Determinants of Support Provision: Provider Characteristics, Personal Networks, Community Contexts, and Support Following Life Events." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 37: 252-264.
- Hofferth, Sandra L. 1984. "Kin Networks, Race, and Family Structure." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 46: 791-806.
- House, J. S. 1988. "Structures and Processes of Social Support." Annual Review of Sociology 14: 293-318.
- House, James S. 1987. "Social Support and Social Structure." *Sociological Forum* 2: 135-146.
- Hurlbert, Jeanne S., Valerie A. Haines, and John J. Beggs. 2000. "Core Networks and Tie Activation: What Kinds of Routine Networks Allocate Resources in Nonroutine Situations?" *American Sociological Review* 65: 598-618.
- Ibarra, Herminia. 1992. Homophily and Differential Returns: Sex Differences in Network Structure and Access in an Advertising Firm." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 37: 422-447.
- Ibarra, Herminia. 1995. "Race, Opportunity, and Diversity of Social Circles in Managerial Networks." *Academy of Management Journal* 38: 673-703.
- Ibarra, Herminia. 1997. "Paving an Alternative Route: Gender Differences in Managerial Networks." *Social Psychology Quarterly* 60: 91-102.
- Jacobson, David. 1987. "The Cultural Context of Social Support and Support Networks." *Medical Anthropology Quarterly* 1: 42-67.
- James, Ericka H. 2000. "Race-Related Differences in Promotions and Support: Underlying Effects of Human and Social Capital." *Organization Science* 11: 493-508.

- Jung, J., & Khalsa, H. 1988. "The Relationships of Daily Hassles, Social Support and Coping to Depression in Black and White Students." *Journal of General Psychology* 116: 407-417.
- LaRocco, James M. 1983. "Theoretical Distinctions between Causal and Interaction Effects of Social Support." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 1: 91-92.
- LaRocco, James M., James S. House, and John R. P. French, Jr. 1980. "Social Support, Occupational Stress and Health." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 21: 202-218.
- Lin, Nan, Mary W. Woelfel, and Stephen C. Light. 1985. "The Buffering Effects of Social Support Subsequent to an Important Life Events." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 26: 247-263.
- Lin, Nan, Walter M. Ensel, and John C. Vaughn. 1981. "Social Resources and Strength of Ties: Structural Factors in Occupational Status Attainment." *American Sociological Review* 46: 393-405.
- Lin, Nan, Walter M. Ensel, Ronald S. Simeone, and Wen Kuo. 1979. "Social Support, Stressful Life Events, and Illness: A Model and an Empirical Test." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 20: 108-119.
- Lin, Nan, Xiaolan Ye, and Walter W. Ensel. 1999. "Social Support and Depressed Mood: A Structural Analysis." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 40: 344-359.
- Lin, Nan. 1999. "Social Networks and Status Attainment." *Annual Review of Sociology* 25: 467-487.
- Lin, Nan. 2000. "Inequality of Social Capital". *Contemporary Sociology* 29: 785-795.
- Marsden, Peter V., and Jeanne S. Hurlbert. 1988. "Social Resources and Mobility Outcomes: A Replication and Extension." *Social Forces* 66: 1038-1059.
- McFarlane, Allan H., Geoffrey R. Norman, David L. Streiner, and Ranjan G. Roy. 1983. "The Process of Social Stress: Stable, Reciprocal, and Mediating Relationships." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior 24:* 160-173.
- McIntosh, Nancy J. 1991. "Identification and Investigation of Properties of Social Support." *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 12: 201-217.
- McPherson, Miller J., and Lynn Smith-Lovin. 1987. "Homophily in Voluntary in Organizations: Status Distance and the Composition of Face-to-Face Groups." *American Sociological Review* 52: 370-379.

- Moore, Gwen. 1990. "Structural Determinants of Men's and Women's Personal Networks." *American Sociological Review* 55: 726-735.
- Nelson, Debra L., and James Campbell Quick. 1991. "Social Support and Newcomer Adjustment in Organizations; Attachment Theory at Work?" *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 12: 543-554.
- Parish, William L,. Lingxin Hoa, and Dennis P. Hogan. 1991. Family support Networks, Welfare, and Work among Young Mothers. *Journal of Marriage and Family.* 53: 203-215.
- Paxton, Pamela. 1999. "Is Social Capital Declining in the United States? A Multiple Indicator Assessment." *The American Journal of Sociology* 105: 88-127.
- Podolny Joel M. and James N. Baron. 1997. "Resources and Relationships: Social Networks and Mobility in the Workplace." *American Sociological Review.* 62: 673-693.
- Portes, Alejandro. 1998. "Social Capital: Its Origins and Applications in Modern Sociology." Annual Review of Sociology 24: 1-24.
- Robert, Taylor J. 1986. "Receipt of Support from Family among Black Americans: Demographic and Familial Differences." *Journal of Marriage and the Family* 48: 67-77.
- Robicheaux, Sally. 2003. "Perceptions of Social Support within the Context of Religious Homophily: A Social network Analysis." M.A. Thesis, Department of Sociology, Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, LA.
- Seers, Anson, Gail W. McGee, Timothy T. Serey, and George B. Graen. 1983. "The Interaction of Job Stress and Social Support: A Strong Inference Investigation." *The Academy of Management Journal* 26: 273-284.
- South, S., Markham, W., Bonjean, C., & Corder, J. 1987. "Sex Differenes in Support for Organizational Advancement." *Work and Occupation* 14: 261-285.
- Suitor, Jill J., Karl Pillemer, and Shirley Keeton. 1995. "When Experience Counts: The Effects of Experiential and Structural Similarity on Patterns of Support and Interpersonal Stress." *Social Forces* 73: 1573-1588.
- Thoits, Peggy A. 1982. "Conceptual, Methodological, and Theoretical Problems in Studying Social Support as a Buffer against Life Stress." *Journal of Health and Behavior* 23: 145-159.

- Thoits, Peggy A. 1995. "Stress, Coping, and Social Support Processes: Where Are We? What Next?". *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 35: 53-79.
- Thoits, Peggy A. 1984. "Explaining Distributions of Psychological Vulnerability: Lack of Social Support in the Face of Life Stress." Social *Forces* 63: 453-481.
- Thoits, Peggy A. 1991. "On Merging Identity Theory and Stress Research" *Social Psychology Qurarterly* 54: 101-112.
- Thomas, David A. 1993. "Racial Dynamics in Cross-Race Developmental Relationships." *Administrative Science Quarterly 38:* 169-194.
- Turner R. 1981. 'Social Support as a Contingency in Psychological Well-Being." Journal of Health and Social Behavior 22: 357-367.
- Wan, Choi K., James Jaccard, and Sharon L. Ramey. 1996. "The Relationship between Social Support and Life Satisfaction as a Function of Family Structure." *Journal* of Marriage and Family 58: 502-513.
- Wethington, Elaine and Kessler C., Ronald. 1986. "Perceived Support, Received Support, and Adjustment to Stressful Life Events." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 27: 78-89.
- William H. Form; Charles P. Loomis, Roy A. Clifford, Harry E. Moore, Sigmund Nosow; Gregory P. Stone, and Charles M. Westie. 1956. "The Persistence and Emergence of Social and Cultural Systems in Disasters." *American Sociological Review* 21: 180-185.

	Blacks		Whites	
	Means	Std	Means	Std
Support Variables				
Instrumental Help (before the storm)	.431	.497	.463	.499
Instrumental Help (after the Storm)	.357	.481	.472	.499
Emotional Help (before the Storm)	.410	.499	.472	.499
Emotional Help (after the Storm)	.442	.467	.474	.499
Formal Support	.315	.467	.204	.403
ndividual Characteristics				
Gender (Female)	.294	.458	.389	.488
Education	13	2	13	2
Family Income	39.169	23.704	51.373	25.034
Age	44	11	51	14.
Marital Status (Married)	.378	.487	.717	.450
Family Assistance (yes)	.073	.262	.025	.158
Residential Damage (yes)	2.22	.958	2.116	.905
Health	2.88	.741	3.13	.739
Experience Hurricane (yes)	.6421	.481	.867	.339
Life Stress (yes)	1.178	1.061	.684	.915
Depression	1.535	1.604	.980	1.463

APPENDIX: MEANS AND STANDARD DEVIATIONS

VITA

Claire Sam-Norris was born in Lake Charles, Louisiana, on June 25, 1981. She is currently a graduate student in the sociology program at Louisiana State University under the direction of Dr. Jeanne S. Hurlbert. She received her Bachelor of Science degree in the major area of psychology and a minor in French in 2003. Claire is a candidate for the Master of Arts degree in the December 2005 commencement. She plans to pursue the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in sociology.